Chapter 1

Uniform Interpolation

Sam van Gool

Université Paris-Saclay, ENS Paris-Saclay, CNRS, LMF

DRAFT version of 21 November 2025.

Comments welcome at: vangool@lmf.cnrs.fr

Abstract —

Uniform interpolation is a strengthening of interpolation that holds for certain propositional logics. The starting point of this chapter is a theorem of A. Pitts, which shows that uniform interpolation holds for intuitionistic propositional logic. We outline how this theorem may be proved semantically via the definability of bisimulation quantifiers, and how it generalizes to an open mapping theorem between Esakia spaces. We also discuss connections between uniform interpolation and research in categorical logic, algebra, and model theory.

Contents

| Uniform interpolants via bisimulation quantifiers | 4 5 6 7 |
|---|---|
| 2.2 Bisimulation quantifiers | 6 |
| - | |
| 2.3 Definability via bounded bisimulations | 7 |
| | |
| 2.4 Extensions of the semantic method to other logics | 10 |
| Uniform interpolants via adjunction and topology | 11 |
| 3.1 Uniform interpolants as adjoints | 12 |
| 3.2 Esakia duality and open mappings | 15 |
| 3.3 Connections to categorical logic | 16 |
| Model-complete theories from uniform interpolants | 18 |
| Syntactic methods, further results and connections | 21 |
| eferences | 24 |
| | 2.4 Extensions of the semantic method to other logics |

© 2025 Copyright for this paper by its authors

DRAFT

Final version to appear in Balder ten Cate, Jean Christoph Jung, Patrick Koopmann, Christoph Wernhard and Frank Wolter, editors. *Theory and Applications of Craig Interpolation*, chapter XXXCHAPTER, pages XXXPFROM-XXXPTO. Ubiquity Press, 2026. XXXDOI.

1 Introduction

Let $\psi(\overline{p}, \overline{q})$ and $\theta(\overline{q}, \overline{r})$ be propositional formulas and suppose that $\psi \to \theta$ is a tautology of classical logic. Define the formula

$$\phi(\overline{q}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \bigvee \left\{ \psi(\overline{p}/\overline{b}, \overline{q}) \mid \overline{b} \in \{\bot, \top\}^{\overline{p}} \right\}, \tag{1}$$

that is, ϕ is the disjunction of all possible variants of ψ obtained by substituting some vector of truth values for the propositional variables \overline{p} . As also explained in Chapter 1, Section 7, observe that ϕ is an interpolant for the entailment $\psi \vdash \theta$. Indeed, $\psi \vdash \phi$ follows from the definition of ϕ , and $\phi \vdash \theta$ uses the assumption that $\psi \vdash \theta$. Notice, moreover, that the interpolant ϕ defined here does not at all depend on the consequent formula θ , but only on the antecedent formula ϕ and on the subset \overline{p} of variables 'to be eliminated' from ψ . In other words, ϕ is uniformly an interpolant on the right of ψ : it interpolates any consequence θ' of ψ that does not contain any of the variables in \overline{p} . The formula ϕ of (1) is therefore called a right uniform interpolant for ψ with respect to the set of eliminated variables \overline{p} .\(^1\) Symmetrically, the expression $\bigwedge \{\theta(\overline{p}/\overline{b}, \overline{r}) \mid \overline{b} \in \{\bot, \top\}^{\overline{p}}\}$ defines a left uniform interpolant for θ with respect to \overline{p} in Boolean logic.

What other propositional logics have uniform interpolants? One may show that an entailment relation \vdash has right uniform interpolants if it has interpolants and is locally finite, by which we mean that there are finitely many equivalence classes of formulas in a finite set of variables. However, the local finiteness is by no means a *necessary* condition for a propositional logic to have uniform interpolants. Indeed, the following surprising theorem, which inspired much of the research surveyed in this chapter, is an instance of a non-locally-finite logic with uniform interpolation.

▶ **Theorem 1** (Pitts, [52]). In intuitionistic logic, any propositional formula has both left and right uniform interpolants, with respect to any set of propositional variables.

To give the general definition of uniform interpolation, we place ourselves in the context of a set \mathcal{L} of formulas in a propositional logic, and we assume given a binary *entailment relation* \vdash between formulas in \mathcal{L} , which we will always assume is reflexive and transitive.

- ▶ **Definition 2.** Let \vdash be an entailment relation, ϕ a formula, and p a propositional variable. We call a formula $\mathsf{E}_p(\phi)$ a *right uniform interpolant* for ϕ with respect to p if the following hold:
- 1. the formula $\mathsf{E}_p(\phi)$ only contains variables that occur in ϕ , but not p,
- **2.** the entailment $\phi \vdash \mathsf{E}_p(\phi)$ holds, and,

¹ We warn the reader of a possible source of confusion: Chapter 1, following part of the literature, calls this a right uniform \bar{q} -interpolant, thus referring in the name to the *remaining* variables, rather than to the eliminated ones, as is done here, and also, for instance, in Chapter 5.

Introduction 3

3. for any *p*-free formula θ , if $\phi \vdash \theta$, then $\mathsf{E}_p(\phi) \vdash \theta$.

Similarly, we call a formula $A_p(\phi)$ a *left uniform interpolant* for ϕ with respect to p if the following hold:

- 1. the formula $A_p(\phi)$ only contains variables that occur in ϕ , but not p,
- **2.** the entailment $A_p(\phi) \vdash \phi$ holds, and,
- **3.** for any p-free formula ψ , if $\psi \vdash \phi$, then $\psi \vdash \mathsf{A}_p(\phi)$.

We say that the relation \vdash has (left and right) uniform interpolants if such formulas $\mathsf{E}_p(\phi)$ and $\mathsf{A}_p(\phi)$ exist for all formulas ϕ and propositional variables p.

We immediately make a few remarks about Definition 2. First, we have only given the definition with respect to a single variable, but the uniform interpolants with respect to sets of variables can be obtained by iterating the single-variable constructs. As a consequence, if an entailment relation has uniform interpolants with respect to single variables, then it has uniform interpolants with respect to any set of variables.

Second, any formula ϕ has, up to equivalence, at most one right uniform interpolant, and at most one left uniform interpolant. Here, two formulas ϕ and ϕ' are equivalent in an entailment relation \vdash if both $\phi \vdash \phi'$ and $\phi' \vdash \phi$ hold. With a slight abuse of notation, we therefore often speak of 'the' right uniform interpolant and 'the' left uniform interpolant of ϕ .

Third, we have defined uniform interpolants with respect to an entailment relation \vdash , but there exists a subtly different definition in the literature. Indeed, let \rightarrow be a binary symbol in the language under consideration. One may then also reasonably define $interpolants based uniform interpolants by replacing, in Definition 2, all assertions of the form <math>\alpha \vdash \beta$ by $\forall \vdash \alpha \rightarrow \beta'$, where \vdash is a fixed constant symbol in the language, suitably connected to the operation \rightarrow . Let us say that the entailment relation \vdash has the deduction property if, for all formulas α and β , $\alpha \vdash \beta$ is equivalent to $\forall \vdash \alpha \rightarrow \beta$. If the entailment relation \vdash does not have this deduction property, the notions of uniform interpolant in the sense of Definition 2 and the implication-based uniform interpolant are not the same in general. Indeed, for \mathbf{K} , implication-based uniform interpolants exist [19, Sec. 6], but uniform interpolants in the sense of Definition 2 do not always exist; we come back to this in Remark 11 below. In light of this, the uniform interpolants of Definition 2 are sometimes called deductive uniform interpolants for emphasis.

▶ Convention. In this chapter we adopt the convention that the phrase 'uniform interpolant' always means 'uniform interpolant in the sense of Definition 2', and we explicitly mention 'implication-based uniform interpolant' when needed.

Finally, note that the three conditions (1)–(3) defining the right and left uniform interpolants, respectively, correspond to rules for second order existential and universal quantifiers; this explains the suggestive notations $\mathsf{E}_p(\phi)$ and $\mathsf{A}_p(\phi)$. The connection between uniform

 $^{^2}$ For instance, this is how uniform interpolation is defined in Definition 23 in Section 3.3 of Chapter 5.

interpolants and higher order quantifiers was central to Pitts' original paper [52, §4], and was further elaborated in the algebraic, categorical, and model-theoretic approaches to uniform interpolation, in particular by S. Ghilardi & M. Zawadowski [26], as we will discuss in depth in Sections 3 and 4 below. Note immediately, however, that the interpretation of second order quantifiers using the uniform interpolants E_p and A_p is not conservative [52, Exa. 10]; in other words, uniform interpolants provide a possible interpretation of second order quantifiers, but moreover satisfy specific properties that generic second order quantifiers do not.

Proof methods for uniform interpolation can be divided, roughly, into two strands: one is syntactic and relies on the existence of a well-behaved sequent calculus for the entailment relation \vdash . This is how uniform interpolation was established for intuitionistic entailment in Pitts' original proof [52]. Pitts' proof relies on a strongly terminating proof calculus for intuitionistic propositional logic, and has been the topic of intensive proof-theoretic investigations and extensions to other logics; see, for instance, Section 3.3 in Chapter 5 and the references therein; we will also make some more remarks on this method in Section 5 of this chapter. The other proof method, which will be our focus in this chapter, starts from a semantic characterization of the entailment relation \vdash , typically in terms of a consequence relation on Kripke models. One then shows that bisimulation quantifiers are definable in the propositional language, and deduces from this the existence of implication-based uniform interpolants. This approach to proving implication-based uniform interpolation was developed soon after [52] as an alternative proof for Theorem 1 [23], and was also shown to apply to modal logics such as Gödel-Löb logic **GL** [60, Cor. 2.13], modal logic **K** [19, Thm 6.1] and Grzegorczyk logic **S4Grz** [64, Sec. 8].

The rest of this chapter is structured as follows. In Section 2, we outline the proof of uniform interpolation for intuitionistic logic via bisimulation quantifiers. We then make a link with adjoints between free algebras, and with Esakia duality, in Section 3. In Section 4, we expose the relationship between uniform interpolants and quantifier elimination in first-order theories of classes of algebras associated to propositional logics. In Section 5, we point out some further connections, in particular to syntactic methods, and give a table, Table 1, summarizing what is (not) known about uniform interpolation for some of the most commonly considered propositional logics.

Note that our focus in this chapter is on uniform interpolation for *propositional* logics. In the classical setting, first order logic does not have uniform interpolants, see for instance Theorem 2.18 in Chapter 2. There are substructural predicate logics with uniform interpolation [4]. We do not know at present whether or not intuitionistic predicate logic has uniform interpolation.

2 Uniform interpolants via bisimulation quantifiers

In this section, we explain how to prove Theorem 1 using the idea of *bisimulation quantifiers*. This proof of Theorem 1 is essentially due to [23], which was inspired by a similar technique

developed for **GL** in [60]. While [23] phrases the argument in terms of sheaf representations of finitely presented Heyting algebras, we here present the ideas in more elementary terms, following [64]; for more about the connection, see Subsection 2.4 below.

We focus on the case of intuitionistic propositional logic for our presentation here, but similar ideas apply for proving implication-based uniform interpolation in modal logics; also see Subsection 2.4 for more about this.

2.1 Models and bisimilarity

For \overline{p} a set of propositional variables, an (intuitionistic) Kripke model over \overline{p} , or \overline{p} -model, is a tuple $M=(W, \preceq, \pi)$, where W is a set of nodes, \preceq is a reflexive and transitive binary relation on W, and π is a function that assigns to every variable $p \in \overline{p}$ an upwards closed subset $\pi(p)$ of W; such a model is called finite if its set of nodes is finite. A pointed \overline{p} -model is a tuple (M, w), where $M=(W, \preceq, \pi)$ is a \overline{p} -model and $w \in W$. For any pointed \overline{p} -model (M, w) and any formula $\phi(\overline{p})$, we write $M, w \Vdash \phi$ if ϕ is forced at node w. This forcing relation \Vdash is defined inductively, as usual, for any pointed \overline{p} -model (M, w), by the following five clauses, where p is any variable in \overline{p} and ϕ_1, ϕ_2 are any formulas with variables in \overline{p} :

- 1. $M, w \Vdash p \stackrel{\text{def}}{\iff} w \in \pi(p)$;
- **2.** $M, w \Vdash \phi_1 \land \phi_2 \stackrel{\text{def}}{\iff} M, w \Vdash \phi_1 \text{ and } M, w \Vdash \phi_2;$
- **3.** $M, w \Vdash \phi_1 \lor \phi_2 \iff M, w \Vdash \phi_1 \text{ or } M, w \Vdash \phi_2;$
- **4.** $M, w \Vdash \phi_1 \to \phi_2 \iff$ for any node v in M such that $w \preceq v$, if $M, v \Vdash \phi_1$ then $M, v \Vdash \phi_2$;
- **5.** $M, w \not\Vdash \bot$.

Intuitionistic entailment is sound and complete with respect to finite Kripke models. More precisely, if $\phi(\overline{p})$ and $\psi(\overline{p})$ are formulas, then the intuitionistic entailment $\phi \vdash \psi$ holds if, and only if, for any finite pointed \overline{p} -model (M, w), if $M, w \Vdash \phi$ then $M, w \Vdash \psi$. For a proof of this foundational equivalence, see, e.g., [10, Thm. 2.43]. In light of this equivalence, when $\phi(\overline{p})$ is a formula and \overline{q} is any set of variables with $\overline{p} \subseteq \overline{q}$, we define

$$\llbracket \phi \rrbracket_{\overline{q}} := \{ (M,w) \text{ a finite pointed } \overline{q}\text{-model} \mid (M,w) \Vdash \phi \}$$

and we note that soundness and completeness means that $\phi \vdash \psi$ is equivalent to $\llbracket \phi \rrbracket_{\overline{q}} \subseteq \llbracket \psi \rrbracket_{\overline{q}}$, where \overline{q} is any set of variables containing all of the variables occurring in ϕ or ψ .

We will make use of the key semantic notion of bisimilarity, a combinatorial method for determining when two nodes in Kripke models have the same 'behavior'. In our setting, having the same behavior means that the two nodes force the same intuitionistic propositional formulas. In order to prove the existence of uniform interpolants with respect to a propositional variable p, we will in particular be interested in nodes that have the same behavior for a given set of variables. The following notion of \bar{q} -bisimilarity captures this idea.

▶ **Definition 3.** Let $M = (W, \preceq, \pi)$ and $M' = (W', \preceq', \pi')$ be \overline{p} -models, and let $\overline{q} \subseteq \overline{p}$. A \overline{q} -bisimulation between M and M' is a relation $Z \subseteq W \times W'$ satisfying the following three properties, for any $(w, w') \in Z$:

- 1. for any $q \in \overline{q}$, we have $w \in \pi(q)$ if, and only if, $w' \in \pi'(q)$;
- 2. for any $v \in W$, if $w \prec v$, then there exists $v' \in W'$ such that $(v, v') \in Z$ and $w' \prec' v'$;
- **3.** for any $v' \in W'$, if $w' \leq v'$, then there exists $v \in W$ such that $(v, v') \in Z$ and $w \leq v$. We say that a pair of nodes $(w, w') \in W \times W'$ is \overline{q} -bisimilar if there exists a \overline{q} -bisimulation between M and M' which contains the pair (w, w'). In this case, we write $(M, w) \sim_{\overline{q}} (M', w')$.

A fundamental fact is that \bar{q} -bisimilar nodes force exactly the same formulas in variables \bar{q} :

▶ **Lemma 4.** Let (M, w) and (M', w') be pointed \overline{p} -models, let $\overline{q} \subseteq \overline{p}$, and suppose that $(M, w) \sim_{\overline{q}} (M', w')$. For any formula $\phi(\overline{q})$, we have $(M, w) \Vdash \phi$ if, and only if, $(M', w') \Vdash \phi$.

Proof. By induction on the construction of the formula ϕ .

2.2 Bisimulation quantifiers

The existential bisimulation quantifier is given by the following semantic construction. Let p, \overline{q} be a set of variables and let \mathcal{K} be a class of finite pointed (p, \overline{q}) -models. We define the class of finite pointed (p, \overline{q}) -models

$$\mathcal{E}_{p}(\mathcal{K}) := \{(M, w) \mid \text{there exists } (M', w') \text{ such that } (M, w) \sim_{\overline{q}} (M', w') \text{ and } (M', w') \in \mathcal{K}\}.$$

Similarly, the universal bisimulation quantifier is defined as the class of finite pointed (p, \overline{q}) models

$$\mathcal{A}_p(\mathcal{K}) := \{(M, w) \mid \text{for all } (M', w') \text{ such that } (M, w) \sim_{\overline{q}} (M', w'), \text{ we have } (M', w') \in \mathcal{K}\}.$$

The following proposition shows that *definability* of bisimulation quantifiers implies the existence of uniform interpolants.

- ▶ Proposition 5. Let $\phi(p, \overline{q})$, $\varepsilon(\overline{q})$, and $\alpha(\overline{q})$ be formulas.
- 1. If $[\![\varepsilon]\!]_{p,\overline{q}} = \mathcal{E}_p([\![\phi]\!]_{p,\overline{q}})$, then ε is a right uniform interpolant for ϕ with respect to p.
- 2. If $[\![\alpha]\!]_{p,\overline{q}} = \mathcal{A}_p([\![\phi]\!]_{p,\overline{q}})$, then α is a left uniform interpolant for ϕ with respect to p.

Proof. (1) Assume that $\llbracket \varepsilon \rrbracket_{p,\overline{q}} = \mathcal{E}_p(\llbracket \phi \rrbracket_{p,\overline{q}})$. Note that $\llbracket \phi \rrbracket_{p,\overline{q}} \subseteq \mathcal{E}_p(\llbracket \phi \rrbracket_{p,\overline{q}})$, since any model is p-bisimilar to itself. Thus, $\llbracket \phi \rrbracket_{p,q} \subseteq \llbracket \varepsilon \rrbracket_{p,\overline{q}}$, and therefore $\phi \vdash \varepsilon$ by completeness. Now let $\theta(\overline{q},\overline{r})$ be any formula such that $\phi \vdash \theta$. By the (usual) Craig interpolation theorem for intuitionistic logic, pick $\theta'(\overline{q})$ such that $\phi \vdash \theta'$ and $\theta' \vdash \theta$. We will prove that $\varepsilon \vdash \theta'$, from which $\varepsilon \vdash \theta$ follows by transitivity of \vdash . To establish $\varepsilon \vdash \theta'$, by completeness it suffices to show that $\llbracket \varepsilon \rrbracket_{p,\overline{q}} \subseteq \llbracket \theta' \rrbracket_{p,\overline{q}}$. Let $(M,w) \in \llbracket \varepsilon \rrbracket_{p,\overline{q}}$ be arbitrary. Since $\llbracket \varepsilon \rrbracket_{p,\overline{q}} = \mathcal{E}_p(\llbracket \phi \rrbracket_{p,\overline{q}})$, pick $(M',w') \sim_{\overline{q}} (M,w)$ such that $M',w' \vdash \phi$. Since $\phi \vdash \theta'$, by soundness we have $M',w' \vdash \theta'$. By Lemma 4, we have $M,w \vdash \theta'$, as required. The proof of (2) is analogous.

³ We warn the reader that, in some sources, the relation that we denote by $\sim_{\overline{q}}$ would instead be denoted by $\sim_{\overline{r}}$, where $\overline{r} = \overline{p} \setminus \overline{q}$, thus emphasizing the set of propositional variables that have been 'forgotten', rather than the set of variables that have been 'kept'.

The converse statements of (1) and (2) in Proposition 5 are also true, as we will prove in Corollary 10 below. We also remark that the appeal to Craig interpolation theorem in the proof of Proposition 5 could be avoided, by modifying the statement in item (1) to: if, for any finite set of variables \bar{r} , $[\![\varepsilon]\!]_{\bar{q},\bar{r}} = \mathcal{E}_p([\![\phi]\!]_{p,\bar{q},\bar{r}})$, then ε is a right uniform interpolant for ϕ with respect to p. The proof of this modified statement is very similar to the proof of Proposition 5(1), but does not require the Craig interpolation theorem. A similar remark holds for item (2). Using this modified version of Proposition 5, one may slightly strengthen the proof outlined below and give a proof of the uniform interpolation theorem that does not already rely on the Craig interpolation theorem.

A more abstract point of view on bisimulation quantifiers \mathcal{E}_p and \mathcal{A}_p is that they are semantic realizations of left and right *adjoints*, respectively, of certain homomorphisms between free Heyting algebras. Proposition 5 then says that if these adjoints are definable in the logic, then they give uniform interpolants. We will expand upon this idea in Section 3 below.

2.3 Definability via bounded bisimulations

In light of Proposition 5, we now seek to prove that the existential and universal bisimulation quantifiers are definable in intuitionistic propositional logic. To do so, the main technical tool is that of bounded bisimulation [64] or, equivalently, the bisimulation games of [23].

- ▶ **Definition 6.** Let $M = (W, \preceq, \pi)$ and $M' = (W', \preceq', \pi')$ be \overline{q} -models. Let $Z_0, \ldots, Z_n \subseteq W \times W'$ be a finite sequence of binary relations. We call $(Z_i)_{i=0}^n$ a bounded bisimulation of depth n if it satisfies the following three properties:
- 1. for any $(w, w') \in \bigcup_{i=0}^n Z_i$ and $q \in \overline{q}$, $w \in \pi(q)$ if, and only if, $w' \in \pi'(q)$, and, for each $0 \le i < n$ and $(w, w') \in Z_{i+1}$,
- **2.** for any $v \in W$, if $w \leq v$, then there exists $v' \in W'$ such that $(v, v') \in Z_i$ and $w' \leq v'$;
- 3. for any $v' \in W'$, if $w' \leq v'$, then there exists $w \in W$ such that $(w, w') \in Z_i$ and $w \leq v$. We say that M, w and M', w' are n-bisimilar if there exists a bounded bisimulation of depth n which relates w to w'. In this case, we write $M, w \sim_{n,\overline{q}} M', w'$.

Note that if Z is a bisimulation, then the constant sequence Z, \ldots, Z gives a bounded bisimulation of arbitrary depth. Thus, $M, w \sim_{\overline{q}} M', w'$ implies that, for every $n \geq 0$, $M, w \sim_{n,\overline{q}} M', w'$. The converse does not hold in general, but it does hold for finite models.⁴ We also introduce the following convenient notation:

 $M, w \preceq_{0,\overline{q}} M', w' \text{ means that, for every } q \in \overline{q}, \text{ if } w \in \pi(q), \text{ then } w' \in \pi'(q);$

Indeed, we will see below that 'for all $n \ge 0$, $M, w \sim_{n,\overline{q}} M', w'$ ' means precisely that (M, w) and (M', w') satisfy the same intuitionistic formulas. [51, Cor. 35] shows that for finite models, this is equivalent to bisimilarity, while an example in [51, Prop. 27] shows that it is not equivalent in general. When logical equivalence implies bisimilarity, this is called a *Hennessy-Milner* property; for more about such properties in the context of intuitionistic logic, see [13] and the references therein.

for any $n \geq 1$, $M, w \leq_{n,\overline{q}} M', w'$ means that, for every v' in M' such that $v' \succeq' w'$, there exists v in M with $v \succeq w$ and $M, v \sim_{n-1,\overline{q}} M', v'$.

With these notations, observe that, for any pointed \overline{q} -models (M, w), (M', w') and any $n \geq 0$, we have $M, w \sim_{n,\overline{q}} M', w'$ if, and only if, both $(M, w) \leq_{n,\overline{q}} (M', w')$ and $M', w' \leq_{n,\overline{q}} M, w$ hold.

For readers familiar with the bisimulation games of [23, 26], we note that pointed models M, w and M', w' are n-bisimilar precisely when Player II has a winning strategy for the first n moves in the bisimulation game played on these models.

The interest of bounded bisimulation is its close relationship to definability of classes of pointed models. We formalize this in Propositions 7 and 8 below. Define the depth of a propositional formula ϕ to be the maximum nesting depth of the implication connective \rightarrow . For any finite set of variables \overline{p} and $n \geq 0$, write $F_{n,\overline{p}}$ for the set of intuitionistic equivalence classes of formulas in variables \overline{p} of depth $\leq n$. Note that, for any n and \overline{p} , the set $F_{n,\overline{p}}$ is finite, as may be shown by a simple induction on n using disjunctive normal forms. Fix, for each class $C \in F_{n,\overline{p}}$, a representing formula $\phi_C(\overline{p})$ of depth $\leq n$. We will often confuse a class with its representing formula. In particular, when τ is a subset of $F_{n,\overline{p}}$, we will write $\bigwedge \tau$ to denote the formula $\bigwedge_{C \in \tau} \phi_C$.

For any pointed \overline{q} -model (M, w) and $\overline{p} \subseteq \overline{q}$, define

$$Th_{n,\overline{p}}(M,w) := \{ C \in F_{n,\overline{p}} \mid M, w \Vdash \phi_C \},\$$

where we note that whether or not a class C belongs to $\operatorname{Th}_{n,\overline{p}}(M,w)$ does not depend on the particular choice of representing formula ϕ_C .

▶ Proposition 7. Let (M, w) and (M', w') be finite pointed \overline{q} -models. For any $n \geq 0$, we have $M, w \leq_{n,\overline{q}} M', w'$ if, and only if, $\operatorname{Th}_{n,\overline{q}}(M, w) \subseteq \operatorname{Th}_{n,\overline{q}}(M', w')$.

4

Note that Proposition 7 and the preceding remarks in particular entail that for any n, \overline{q} , the relation $\sim_{n,\overline{q}}$ is an equivalence relation on the class of finite pointed \overline{q} -models. Moreover, this equivalence relation has only finitely many equivalence classes, because each $\sim_{n,\overline{q}}$ -class uniquely determines a subset of $F_{n,\overline{q}}$, of which there are finitely many.

This idea lets us relate $\sim_{n,\overline{q}}$ -bisimilarity to definability, as we will show now. In order to conveniently state the following proposition, if \mathcal{K} is a class of finite pointed \overline{p} -models, then for $n \geq 0$ and $\overline{q} \subseteq \overline{p}$, we will say that the class \mathcal{K} is (n,\overline{q}) -upward closed if, for any $(M,w) \in \mathcal{K}$, and any finite pointed \overline{p} -model (M',w'), if $M,w \preceq_{n,\overline{q}} M',w'$, then $(M',w') \in \mathcal{K}$.

▶ **Proposition 8.** Let \overline{p} be a finite sequence of variables, and let K be a class of finite pointed \overline{p} -models. For any $n \geq 0$ and $\overline{q} \subseteq \overline{p}$, the class K is (n, \overline{q}) -upward closed if, and only if, there exists a formula $\chi(\overline{q})$ of depth $\leq n$ such that $[\![\chi]\!]_{\overline{p}} = K$.

Proof. The sufficiency is immediate from Proposition 7. For the necessity, assume \mathcal{K} is (n, \overline{q}) -upward closed, and consider the set $T_{\mathcal{K}} := \{ \operatorname{Th}_{n,\overline{q}}(M,w) \mid (M,w) \in \mathcal{K} \}$, which is a subset of $\mathcal{P}(F_{n,\overline{q}})$, and thus finite. Define

$$\chi := \bigvee_{\tau \in T_{\mathcal{K}}} \bigwedge \tau ,$$

which is clearly a formula of depth $\leq n$ that only uses variables in \overline{q} . We show that $[\![\chi]\!]_{\overline{p}} = \mathcal{K}$. First, if $(M,w) \in \mathcal{K}$, then clearly $M,w \Vdash \bigwedge \operatorname{Th}_{n,\overline{q}}(M,w)$, so $M,w \Vdash \chi$. Conversely, suppose that $M',w' \Vdash \chi$. Pick $(M,w) \in \mathcal{K}$ such that $M',w' \Vdash \bigwedge \operatorname{Th}_{n,\overline{q}}(M,w)$. This means that $\operatorname{Th}_{n,\overline{q}}(M,w) \subseteq \operatorname{Th}_{n,\overline{q}}(M',w')$. By Proposition 7, it follows that $M,w \preceq_{n,\overline{q}} M',w'$. Since \mathcal{K} is (n,\overline{q}) -upward closed, we conclude that $(M',w') \in \mathcal{K}$.

Combining Proposition 8 with Proposition 5, we see that, in order to establish the existence of uniform interpolants, one needs to show that, for any $\phi(p,\overline{q})$, the sets $\mathcal{E}_p(\llbracket\phi\rrbracket_{p,\overline{q}})$ and $\mathcal{A}_p(\llbracket\phi\rrbracket_{p,\overline{q}})$ are (n,\overline{q}) -upward closed, for some $n\geq 0$. This is the content of the final lemma, the proof of which is a combinatorial argument on Kripke models.

▶ **Lemma 9** (Expansion Lemma). For any $k \ge 0$, there exists n such that, whenever $\phi(p, \overline{q})$ is a formula of depth $\le k$, the sets $\mathcal{E}_p(\llbracket \phi \rrbracket_{p,\overline{q}})$ and $\mathcal{A}_p(\llbracket \phi \rrbracket_{p,\overline{q}})$ are (n,\overline{q}) -upward closed.

We emphasize that Lemma 9 contains the combinatorial core of the uniform interpolation theorem, when viewed semantically. This is the main part of the argument that is highly specific to the class of models (and thus to the logic) under consideration, and often requires an intricate combinatorial argument; we refer to [23, Lem. 4.2], [64, Lem. 5.1], or [29, Lem. 10] for various renderings of such an argument in the case of intuitionistic logic. Note that, in all of these semantic arguments, the number n in general needs to be taken very large compared to k. The name 'Expansion Lemma' comes from [60, Lem. 2.10], where it is used for the analogous combinatorial result that is required for proving uniform interpolation in Gödel-Löb logic GL.

Given the above results, we can now also see that any right uniform interpolant for ϕ with respect to p must in fact have $\mathcal{E}_p(\llbracket \phi \rrbracket_{p,\overline{q}})$ as its semantics; that is, we deduce the converse of Proposition 5.

- ▶ Corollary 10. Let $\phi(p, \overline{q})$ be a formula.
- 1. If $\varepsilon(\overline{q})$ is a right uniform interpolant for ϕ with respect to p, then $[\![\varepsilon]\!]_{p,\overline{q}} = \mathcal{E}_p([\![\phi]\!]_{p,\overline{q}})$.
- 2. If $\alpha(\overline{q})$ is a left uniform interpolant for ϕ with respect to p, then $[\![\alpha]\!]_{p,\overline{q}} = \mathcal{A}_p([\![\phi]\!]_{p,\overline{q}})$.

Proof. (1) Assume that ε is a right uniform interpolant for ϕ with respect to p. By Proposition 8 and Lemma 9, pick a formula $\chi(\overline{q})$ such that $[\![\chi]\!]_{p,\overline{q}} = \mathcal{E}_p([\![\phi]\!]_{p,\overline{q}})$. By Proposition 5, χ is a right uniform interpolant for ϕ . It follows from the second remark following Definition 2 that χ and ε are equivalent. In particular, $[\![\varepsilon]\!]_{p,\overline{q}} = [\![\chi]\!]_{p,\overline{q}} = \mathcal{E}_p([\![\phi]\!]_{p,\overline{q}})$. The proof of (2) is analogous.

2.4 Extensions of the semantic method to other logics

The proof of uniform interpolation for intuitionistic logic outlined above suggests a general proof strategy for uniform interpolation via definability of bisimulation quantifiers for logics admitting a Kripke semantics; note in particular that the argument given in Proposition 5 does not use any specific properties of intuitionistic logic beyond completeness and usual Craig interpolation (and the latter could have been avoided with some more care). The same proof method is for instance used in [64] to obtain uniform interpolants in Grzegorczyk logic **S4Grz**, and it is also shown there that implication-based uniform interpolants for **K** [19, Sec. 6] and uniform interpolants for **GL** [60] can be obtained in this way.

The article [23], which preceded [64], gave a very similar argument for uniform interpolation in intuitionistic logic, phrased in a more category-theoretic language. The basic idea in [23] (later much expanded in [26]) is that a formula $\phi(\overline{q})$ can be represented as a sheaf (i.e., a particular kind of functor), $F_{\overline{q}}(\phi)$, from the category of finite pointed posets with bounded morphisms to the category of sets. This sheaf $F_{\overline{q}}(\phi)$ associates to any finite pointed poset (W, \leq, w) the set of persistent valuations $\pi \colon \overline{q} \to \mathcal{P}(W)$ such that the model $((W, \leq, \pi), w)$ forces ϕ . In this setting, existential and universal bisimulation quantifiers with respect to a variable p then correspond to certain natural transformations between these sheaves. The existence of uniform interpolants is obtained by showing that these natural transformations have an index, a concept that is analogous to what we called ' (n, \overline{q}) -upward closed' above. Inspired by this work, [29] gives a topological proof of Theorem 1 via Esakia duality, see Subsection 3.2 below. We will go into further detail about the work of [23, 26] in Section 4.

The semantic method also allows one to prove that uniform interpolation *fails* to hold for certain logics. The first instance of this is [24], where it is shown that uniform interpolants fail to exist for the modal logic **S4**; [9, Sec. 3] shows that the same counterexample can be used to show that uniform interpolants do not exist for **K4**. Uniform interpolation also fails for intuitionistic versions of these logics, **iK4**, **iS4** [27, Sec. 3.4].

▶ Remark 11. The difference between implication-based and deductive uniform interpolants can be seen clearly in the case of the modal logic **K**. An algorithm for computing implication-based uniform interpolants for the logic **K** is outlined, for instance, in Subsection 3.3 of Chapter 5. The fact that *deductive* uniform interpolants do not always exist in **K** is essentially due to [22, Thm. 37], where a counterexample is given in the syntax of description logic. The failure is related to the failure of the deduction theorem for the global consequence relation (for which see, e.g., [8, Sec. 1.5]). We here give a slightly simpler example, essentially following the same methods as in [38, Thm. 4.1]. In this form, the example is due to G. Metcalfe (personal communication).

Consider the modal formula $\phi := (q \to p) \land (p \to \Box p) \land (p \to r)$. We claim that ϕ does not have a right uniform interpolant with respect to p for the deduction relation $\vdash_{\mathbf{K}}$. The

crucial observation towards this claim is that, for any modal formula $\theta(q,r)$,

$$\phi \vdash_{\mathbf{K}} \theta$$
 if, and only if, there exists $N \ge 0$ such that $\bigwedge_{k=0}^{N} (q \to \Box^k r) \vdash_{\mathbf{K}} \theta$. (2)

For the right-to-left direction of (2), just note that $\phi \vdash_{\mathbf{K}} q \to \Box^k r$ for every $k \geq 0$ and use transitivity of $\vdash_{\mathbf{K}}$. For the left-to-right direction of (2), we reason contrapositively, and assume that there does not exist N such that $\bigwedge_{k=0}^N (q \to \Box^k r) \vdash_{\mathbf{K}} \theta$. Using the compactness and completeness theorems for modal logic \mathbf{K} , there exists a pointed (modal) Kripke (q, r)-model (M, w) such that $M, w \Vdash q \to \Box^k r$ for every $k \geq 0$, but $M, w \not\Vdash \theta$. Extend the valuation of this model to the variable p by setting $M, w \Vdash p$ if, and only if, $M, w \Vdash \Box^k r$ for every $k \geq 0$. It it then straight-forward to check that $M, w \Vdash \phi$, so that $\phi \not\vdash_{\mathbf{K}} \theta$ by soundness.

Now suppose that $\varepsilon(q,r)$ would be a deductive right uniform interpolant for ϕ with respect to p. Since $\phi \vdash_{\mathbf{K}} \varepsilon$, by (2) we can pick $N \geq 0$ such that $\bigwedge_{k=0}^{N} (q \to \Box^k r) \vdash_{\mathbf{K}} \varepsilon$. Also, since $\phi \vdash_{\mathbf{K}} q \to \Box^{N+1} r$, we must have $\varepsilon \vdash_{\mathbf{K}} q \to \Box^{N+1} r$. By transitivity of $\vdash_{\mathbf{K}}$, we now obtain that $\bigwedge_{k=0}^{N} (q \to \Box^k r) \vdash_{\mathbf{K}} q \to \Box^{N+1} r$, but this is false, as can be seen from a simple countermodel construction.

Bisimulation quantifiers were also used to prove that the modal μ -calculus has uniform interpolation [2, Cor. 3.8]. The proof of this result relies on the characterization of the sets of transition systems that are definable in the μ -calculus as being precisely those that are recognizable by so-called μ -automata [33]. The definability of bisimulation quantifiers is then obtained by showing that μ -automata are closed under projections. This method is further used ([2, Thm. 3.9]) to prove that adding bisimulation quantifiers to the syntax of propositional dynamic logic yields a logic that is expressively equivalent to the full modal μ -calculus. An alternative, proof-theoretic approach to uniform interpolation for modal μ -calculus is discussed in depth in Chapter 11 of this volume.

While the semantic method via bisimulation quantifiers is highly versatile, its main drawback is that it does not give an explicit construction of the uniform interpolants of a formula. In general, the number n in the Expansion Lemma (Lemma 9) is taken in the order of several exponential factors larger than k, so that, while it is theoretically computable, it does not yield an efficient way for calculating uniform interpolants. We come back to this point in Section 5.

3 Uniform interpolants via adjunction and topology

In this section, we will show how the existence of uniform interpolants relates to the existence of adjoints between finitely generated free algebras (Subsection 3.1). We will again focus first on the case of intuitionistic propositional logic, and then show how to generalize this to other logics. Next, in the case of intuitionistic logic, we give a topological argument for why the required adjoints exist (Subsection 3.2). Finally, we relate this to questions in categorical logic that were at the origin of Pitts' investigations (Subsection 3.3).

3.1 Uniform interpolants as adjoints

Recall that intuitionistic propositional logic is captured algebraically by the class of Heyting algebras, i.e., structures $(A, \land, \lor, \Rightarrow, \bot, \top)$ which are bounded distributive lattices having the further property that, for any $a, b \in A$, the element $a \Rightarrow b$ is the maximum of the set $\{c \in A \mid a \land c \leq b\}$. If \overline{p} is any finite sequence of propositional variables, then, for any propositional formulas $\phi(\overline{p})$ and $\psi(\overline{p})$, their equivalence classes are elements of the free Heyting algebra $\mathbf{H}(\overline{p})$, which we still denote by ϕ and ψ by a slight abuse of notation. The basic connection between Heyting algebras and intuitionistic logic is the fact that an intuitionistic entailment $\phi \vdash \psi$ holds if, and only if, $\phi \leq_{\mathbf{H}(\overline{p})} \psi$.

Let p, \overline{q} be a finite sequence of variables and let $\phi(p, \overline{q})$ be a formula in these variables, which we view as an element of $\mathbf{H}(p, \overline{q})$. Note that the free algebra $\mathbf{H}(\overline{q})$ can be seen as a subalgebra of $\mathbf{H}(p, \overline{q})$; formally, we write

$$i: \mathbf{H}(\overline{q}) \hookrightarrow \mathbf{H}(p, \overline{q})$$
 (3)

for the injective homomorphism that sends any equivalence class of formulas $\psi(\overline{q})$ to itself, now viewed as an element of $\mathbf{H}(p,\overline{q})$. In these terms, the uniform interpolant $\mathsf{E}_p(\phi)$ is an element of $\mathbf{H}(\overline{q})$ with the property that

$$\mathsf{E}_p(\phi) = \min\{\psi \in \mathbf{H}(\overline{q}) \mid \phi \leq_{\mathbf{H}(p,\overline{q})} i(\psi)\}.$$

This equation says precisely that the function $\mathsf{E}_p \colon \mathbf{H}(p,\overline{q}) \to \mathbf{H}(\overline{q})$ is a lower adjoint to the homomorphism i of (3).⁵

The previous paragraph shows that the existence of right uniform interpolants implies the existence of a lower adjoint to the homomorphism i of (3). Similarly, the existence of left uniform interpolants implies the existence of an $upper\ adjoint$ to the homomorphism i. A crucial idea underlying all semantic proof methods for implication-based uniform interpolation is that, conversely, if one wants to construct uniform interpolants, one may first try to construct such lower and upper adjoints, which will yield candidate right and left uniform interpolants, respectively. As already mentioned after the proof of Proposition 5 above, bisimulation quantifiers may be seen as semantic realizations of these adjoints. The following argument is thus, in a sense, an 'algebraic' version of the proof of Proposition 5.

- ▶ Proposition 12. Let p, \overline{q} be a finite set of variables. Consider the homomorphism i of (3). 1. The function i has a lower adjoint if, and only if, every formula $\phi(p, \overline{q})$ has a right uniform
- interpolant with respect to p.

⁵ Note that lower adjoints are sometimes referred to as *left* adjoints, but we prefer 'lower' in this context, in order to avoid confusion with the left-right terminology for uniform interpolants, which uses the *opposite* convention. Below, we will move to homomorphisms between *congruence lattices* rather than between the algebras themselves, and another order flip will take place, which makes the left-right terminology for uniform interpolants coherent with the one for adjoints.

2. The function i has an upper adjoint if, and only if, every formula $\phi(p, \overline{q})$ has a left uniform interpolant with respect to p.

Proof. (1) The sufficiency of the condition was explained above. For the necessity, let i^{\flat} be a lower adjoint for i and let $\phi(p,\overline{q})$ be arbitrary. Pick a formula $\psi(\overline{q})$ in the equivalence class $i^{\flat}(\phi)$. By adjunction, $\phi \leq_{\mathbf{H}(p,\overline{q})} i(\psi)$, so that $\phi \vdash \psi$. Let θ be any p-free formula such that $\phi \vdash \theta$. First, using the (non-uniform) Craig interpolation theorem of intuitionistic propositional logic, pick an interpolating formula θ' using only variables in \overline{q} , such that (a) $\phi \vdash \theta'$ and $(b) \theta' \vdash \theta$. Property (a) implies that $\phi \leq_{\mathbf{H}(p,\overline{q})} i(\theta')$, so, by definition of lower adjoints, $i^{\flat}(\phi) \leq_{\mathbf{H}(\overline{q})} \theta'$. The choice of ψ then gives that $\psi \vdash \theta'$, and now property (b), together with the transitivity of the relation \vdash , yield $\psi \vdash \theta$. (2) Similar.

For other logics and their corresponding varieties of algebras, analogous arguments still hold, although one needs to perform them at the level of the *lattices of compact congruences* of free finitely generated algebras. In category-theoretic terms, compact congruences on finitely presented algebras may be seen as *regular epimorphisms* in the category of finitely presented algebras, and this was the original approach taken in [26]. An algebraic rendering of this idea, using the universal-algebraic notion of *coherence*, was developed in [28, 39]. We now briefly recall how this works, referring to Chapter 8 of this volume for more details.

Let \mathcal{V} be a variety of algebras, in the sense of universal algebra, see, e.g., Section 2 of Chapter 8. We write $\mathbf{F}_{\mathcal{V}}(\overline{x})$ for the free \mathcal{V} -algebra over a set of variables \overline{x} . Recall that, in Section 3 of that chapter, a consequence relation $\vdash_{\mathcal{V}}$ was associated to \mathcal{V} , and it was shown in Lemma 9 of the same chapter that, for any set of equations $\Sigma \cup \{E\}$ with variables in a set \overline{x} , we have $\Sigma \vdash_{\mathcal{V}} E$ if, and only if, the equation E belongs to the congruence on $\mathbf{F}_{\mathcal{V}}(\overline{x})$ generated by Σ . For any homomorphism $h \colon A \to B$ between algebras in \mathcal{V} , we have an adjoint pair of maps

$$h^*$$
: Con $A \hookrightarrow \text{Con } B \colon h^{-1}$,

where h^{-1} sends a congruence β on B to its inverse image $h^{-1}(\beta) := \{(a, a') \in A^2 \mid (ha, ha') \in \beta\}$, and h^* sends a congruence α on A to $\operatorname{Cg}^B(h[\alpha])$, i.e., the congruence on B generated by the forward image $\{(ha, ha') \mid (a, a') \in \alpha\}$. Note that h^* preserves finitely generated congruences, i.e., when α is a finitely generated congruence, then so is $h^*(\alpha)$. However, it is not the case in general that h^{-1} preserves finitely generated congruences; for a counterexample in the variety of groups, see [28, Example 3.6]. It is shown in [28, Prop. 3.5] that right uniform interpolants with respect to $\vdash_{\mathcal{V}}$ exist if, and only if, for any sets of variables $\overline{x}, \overline{y}$, the inverse image i^{-1} of the inclusion homomorphism

$$i \colon \mathbf{F}_{\mathcal{V}}(\overline{y}) \hookrightarrow \mathbf{F}_{\mathcal{V}}(\overline{x}, \overline{y})$$
 (4)

⁶ In some literature, in particular [28], 'finitely generated congruences' are also called 'compact congruences', referring to the fact that they are the compact elements of the algebraic lattice Con A.

preserves finitely generated congruences. Thus, this property in particular implies that the consequence relation $\vdash_{\mathcal{V}}$ has the interpolation property. It is moreover possible to 'separate out' the usual interpolation property: right uniform interpolants exist if, and only if, (i) the usual interpolation property holds, and (ii) for any *finite* sets of variables $\overline{x}, \overline{y}$, the inverse image i^{-1} of the homomorphism i of (4) preserves finitely generated congruences. Writing KCon A for the semilattice of finitely generated congruences on A, (ii) implies that, for any finite sets of variables $\overline{x}, \overline{y}$, we have an adjunction

$$i^*$$
: KCon $\mathbf{F}_{\mathcal{V}}(\overline{y}) \leftrightarrows \mathsf{KCon}\,\mathbf{F}_{\mathcal{V}}(\overline{x},\overline{y}) \colon i^{-1}$.

Note that, here, i^{-1} is *upper* adjoint to i^* , whereas in the case of Heyting algebras (Proposition 12) we saw that right uniform interpolants are related to the existence of a *lower* adjoint i^{\flat} for the homomorphism i. The reason for this order switch is that any Heyting algebra A is isomorphic to the *opposite* of the poset KCon A of compact congruences on A.

It was shown in [28, Prop. 3.8] that (ii) implies that h^{-1} preserves finitely generated congruences for *any* homomorphism between finitely presented algebras. Moreover, [39, Thm. 2.3] establishes that (ii) is also equivalent to the variety \mathcal{V} being *coherent*, meaning that any finitely generated subalgebra of a finitely presented algebra is itself finitely presented. To summarize this discussion, we have the following:

- ▶ **Theorem 13** ([28, 39]). For any variety V, the following are equivalent:
- 1. for any finite sets of variables \overline{x} , \overline{y} , the inverse image i^{-1} of the homomorphism i of (4) preserves finitely generated congruences;
- **2.** for any homomorphism $h: A \to B$ between finitely presented V-algebras, the inverse image h^{-1} preserves finitely generated congruences;
- **3.** the variety V is coherent.
- If, moreover, the consequence relation $\vdash_{\mathcal{V}}$ has the interpolation property, then the above properties are also equivalent to:
- **4.** for any sets of variables \overline{x} , \overline{y} , the inverse image i^{-1} of the homomorphism i of (4) preserves finitely generated congruences;
- **5.** the consequence relation $\vdash_{\mathcal{V}}$ has right uniform interpolants.

Similarly, the existence of *left* uniform interpolants is equivalent to the algebraic property that, for any sets \overline{x} and \overline{y} of variables, the direct image map i^* has a *lower adjoint*, also see [28, Sec. 4].

▶ Example 14. The variety of MV-algebras, associated to Łukaciewicz multi-valued logic, is coherent, even though implication-style uniform interpolation fails. On the other hand, the variety of modal algebras is not coherent (Remark 11), even though it has implication-style uniform interpolation [19, Sec. 6]. The variety of lattices, which algebraizes a minimal, non-distributive logic of 'and' and 'or', also fails to be coherent [59], see also [39, Sec. 5].

3.2 Esakia duality and open mappings

The point of view that uniform interpolants for intuitionistic logic are given by adjoints to inclusions of free Heyting algebras enables a topological analysis of uniform interpolants. The general idea of using topology for studying intuitionistic logic goes back to at least M. H. Stone [62]. To motivate the idea, observe first that the collection $\mathcal{O}(X)$ of open sets of any topological space X is a Heyting algebra, which is even complete. The Heyting implication in $\mathcal{O}(X)$ is given, for U and V open sets, by letting $U \Rightarrow V$ be the topological interior of the set of points of X which are either in V or not in U. In general, however, free Heyting algebras on two or more generators are not complete [5, Thm. 4.2], and can therefore not be of the form $\mathcal{O}(X)$ for any space X.

To obtain all Heyting algebras from a topological construction, one may use a theorem due to Stone [62], which implies that any bounded distributive lattice, and thus in particular any Heyting algebra, can be represented as the collection of open and compact subsets of a certain topological space. Homomorphisms of Heyting algebras then correspond to certain strongly continuous functions between the spaces in the other direction. We will here use a point of view on this duality due to Priestley [56] and Esakia [14, 15], who consider subsets that are clopen (i.e., closed and open) up-sets (i.e., upward closed) with respect to a partial order that is added as additional structure to the topological space. One way to view the results of Stone, Priestley, and Esakia is that they provide a canonical choice for an embedding of a Heyting algebra into a complete Heyting algebra of the form $\mathcal{O}(X)$. Indeed, the space X representing a Heyting algebra H is such that $\mathcal{O}(X)$ is the ideal completion of H.

Esakia [14] proved that the category of Heyting algebras is dually equivalent to a subcategory of the category of compact ordered topological spaces, in which the morphisms are the so-called *continuous bounded maps*. We write $\mathbf{E}(\overline{p})$ for the Esakia space dual to the free Heyting algebra $\mathbf{H}(\overline{p})$ over set of generators \overline{p} , which is also known as the *canonical model* for intuitionistic propositional logic. Concretely, the points of $\mathbf{E}(\overline{p})$ are the prime theories of intuitionistic propositional logic in variables \overline{p} , where a theory is a set of formulas closed under entailment and finite conjunction, and a theory T is prime if $\bot \notin T$ and $\phi \lor \psi \in T$ implies $\phi \in T$ or $\psi \in T$. The partial order is given by inclusion of prime theories, and the topology on $\mathbf{E}(\overline{p})$ is generated by declaring that, for any $\phi \in \mathbf{H}(\overline{p})$, the set $\widehat{\phi}$ of prime theories containing ϕ is both closed and open (clopen). An important consequence of Esakia duality is that the assignment $\phi \mapsto \widehat{\phi}$ is a Heyting algebra isomorphism between $\mathbf{H}(\overline{p})$ and the Heyting algebra of clopen up-sets of the Esakia space X.

We call an Esakia space X finitely copresented if X is order-homeomorphic to a clopen up-set of $\mathbf{E}(\overline{p})$, for some finite \overline{p} ; this name comes from the fact that it is equivalent to saying that the Heyting algebra dual to X is finitely presented. The following theorem is proved in [29, Thm. 2], using methods similar to the Expansion Lemma (Lemma 9) stated above.

▶ **Theorem 15.** Every continuous bounded map between finitely copresented Esakia spaces is open.

From Theorem 15, one can deduce in particular that the inclusion homomorphism $i : \mathbf{H}(\overline{q}) \hookrightarrow \mathbf{H}(p,\overline{q})$ of (3) has both a lower and an upper adjoint, and thus that uniform interpolants exist in intuitionistic logic, in light of Proposition 12. We explain briefly how this works for the lower adjoint; see [29, Thm. 3] for more details. By Esakia duality, the homomorphism i may equivalently be viewed as p^{-1} , where $p : \mathbf{E}(p,\overline{q}) \to \mathbf{E}(\overline{q})$ is the continuous bounded map dual to i. By Theorem 15, this map is open. In particular, for any formula $\phi(p,\overline{q})$, the direct image $p[\widehat{\phi}]$ is also a clopen up-set of $\mathbf{E}(\overline{q})$, so that there must exist some formula ε with $\widehat{\varepsilon} = p[\widehat{\phi}]$. Defining $i^{\flat}(\phi) := \varepsilon$ now yields a lower adjoint for i.

We remark that Theorem 15 was recently generalized by J. Marquès [48, Thm 1.4.26] to the class of *intuitionistic compact ordered spaces*, also called *generalized Esakia spaces* in [30, Def. 3.1]. In light of a duality of M. Abbadini [1], these spaces, which form a subclass of compact ordered spaces, correspond to a logic where truth values of basic propositions are taken in a *continuous* domain, such as the unit interval, in the vein of Łukaciewicz's many-valued logic, **L**. Marquès' result therefore corresponds to a uniform interpolation property for an intuitionistic version of an infinitary many-valued logic [48, Prop. 1.3.23]. A full syntactic analysis of this result has not yet been performed.

3.3 Connections to categorical logic

The connection between uniform interpolants and adjoints is analogous to the important idea in categorical logic that quantifiers can be viewed as adjoints [43, 44], and was already pointed out in Pitts' original paper [52, §4]. Indeed, Pitts explains there that the existence of uniform interpolants for intuitionistic logic implies that every Heyting algebra can appear as the algebra of truth values of a model of second-order intuitionistic propositional logic. In more syntactic terms, Pitts' result provides an interpretation of intuitionistic second order quantifiers into the propositional fragment. We stress that this interpretation can not be conservative: the entailment relation in IPC is decidable, but the entailment relation in IPC enriched with second-order quantifiers is not. A concrete example of a principle that holds for uniform interpolants and not for general second-order quantifiers is given in [52, Exa. 10].

The algebraic consequence of Pitts' theorem points to his original motivation for proving his theorem, which was the following open question:

▶ Question 16 (Pitts). Is every Heyting algebra the algebra of global truth values of some elementary topos?

An elementary topos is a categorical model of higher order intuitionistic logic. The notion may be viewed as a generalization to the categorical level of Heyting algebras, which give an algebraic model of propositional intuitionistic logic. A positive answer to Question 16 would mean that any propositional intuitionistic theory can appear as the zeroth level of some higher order intuitionistic theory, and would thus in particular yield a new way of constructing such higher order theories. A classical construction of P. Freyd shows that the

answer to the restriction of Question 16 to Boolean algebras is affirmative, see [36, Ex. 9.11], [53, Rem. 4.8 and 4.9] and [41].

In the rest of this subsection, we will show in more detail how Question 16 and Theorem 1 are related; while this has clearly been known since [52], we are not aware of any reference where the relationship is fully explained. In order to do so, let us first quickly recall the categorical notions that play a role here; for a more pedagogical exposition of these notions from a logical perspective, we recommend, e.g., [63].

Let \mathcal{E} be a category. A *subobject* of an object A of \mathcal{E} is an equivalence class of monomorphisms $m \colon S \rightarrowtail A$, where two monomorphisms are equivalent if each can be factored through the other. The collection $\mathsf{Sub}_{\mathcal{E}}(A)$ of subobjects of an object A in \mathcal{E} is then a partially ordered set under the factorization ordering. The association $A \mapsto \mathsf{Sub}_{\mathcal{E}}(A)$ is in fact part of a *contravariant functor*: any morphism $f \colon A \to A'$ in \mathcal{E} naturally gives an order preserving function $f^{-1} \colon \mathsf{Sub}_{\mathcal{E}}(A') \to \mathsf{Sub}_{\mathcal{E}}(A)$, by precomposition with f.

A category \mathcal{E} is called an elementary topos if (a) \mathcal{E} has finite limits and, (b) for every object A in \mathcal{E} , there exists a power object PA in \mathcal{E} representing the functor sending B to $\mathsf{Sub}_{\mathcal{E}}(A \times B)$; concretely, this means that there is a natural bijection between morphisms $B \to PA$ and subobjects of $A \times B$. Note that, taking A to be the terminal object 1 of \mathcal{E} , the object $\Omega := P1$ is then a subobject classifier in \mathcal{E} , in the sense that, for any object B in \mathcal{E} , morphisms from B to Ω are in natural bijection with subobjects of B. For S a subobject of B, we denote the corresponding morphism by $\chi_B \colon B \to \Omega$, and we call it the characteristic map of B. The prototypical example of an elementary topos is the category of sets, where finite limits can be computed as subsets of Cartesian products, PA is the power set of A, and Ω is the two-element set.

The two axioms for elementary toposes have many consequences, of which we mention two important ones here. First, for any object A in an elementary topos \mathcal{E} , the poset $\mathsf{Sub}_{\mathcal{E}}(A)$ is a Heyting algebra, and for any morphism $f \colon A \to A'$ in \mathcal{E} , the morphism f^{-1} is a Heyting algebra homomorphism, see, e.g., [63, Thm. 13.2]. In particular, taking the terminal object 1 of \mathcal{E} , we have a Heyting algebra $\mathsf{Sub}_{\mathcal{E}}(1)$, which is called the algebra of global truth values. Question 16 now asks if any Heyting algebra may appear as such an algebra of global truth values. One may show that, in order to answer this question in the positive, it would in fact suffice to establish this for free Heyting algebras [54, p. 37]; we omit the proof.

We will now explain, in Proposition 17, why a positive answer to Question 16 would immediately yield Theorem 1, as stated in [52, p. 36]. To this end, recall that, in an elementary topos \mathcal{E} , there exist existential and universal quantifiers with respect to any morphism. More precisely, for any morphism $f: A \to B$ in \mathcal{E} , the morphism $f^{-1}: \operatorname{Sub}_{\mathcal{E}}(B) \to \operatorname{Sub}_{\mathcal{E}}(A)$ has an upper adjoint \forall_f and a lower adjoint \exists_f , see, e.g., [63, Thm. 13.4 and Thm. 13.5.3]. In the proof of the next proposition, we will apply this fact to the (unique) morphism !: $\Omega \to 1$.

▶ **Proposition 17.** Let \overline{q} be an infinite set of variables and $p \notin \overline{q}$. Suppose that \mathcal{E} is an elementary topos with an isomorphism $\tau \colon \mathsf{Sub}_{\mathcal{E}}(1) \cong \mathbf{H}(\overline{q}) \colon \sigma$. There exists a Heyting algebra embedding $j \colon \mathbf{H}(p,\overline{q}) \hookrightarrow \mathsf{Sub}_{\mathcal{E}}(\Omega)$ such that, for any formula $\phi(p,\overline{q})$, the formulas $\tau(\exists_!(j(\phi)))$

and $\tau(\forall_!(j(\phi)))$ are right and left uniform interpolants of ϕ with respect to p.

Proof. For each $q \in \overline{q}$, let j(q) be the subobject ! $^{-1}(\sigma(q))$ of Ω , and moreover let j(p) be the subobject of Ω corresponding to the identity morphism $\Omega \to \Omega$. These assignments extend uniquely to a homomorphism $j \colon \mathbf{H}(p,\overline{q}) \to \mathsf{Sub}_{\mathcal{E}}(\Omega)$. We first show that j is injective. For this, consider the function $\alpha \colon \mathsf{Sub}_{\mathcal{E}}(\Omega) \to \mathbf{H}(\overline{q})^{\mathbf{H}(\overline{q})}$, defined, for $S \in \mathsf{Sub}_{\mathcal{E}}(\Omega)$, by letting $\alpha(S) \colon \mathbf{H}(\overline{q}) \to \mathbf{H}(\overline{q})$ be the function that sends $\phi \in \mathbf{H}(\overline{q})$ to $\tau(\chi_{\sigma(\phi)}^{-1}(S))$. Observe that this function α is a homomorphism of Heyting algebras. One may moreover verify that, for each $q \in \overline{q}$, $\alpha(j(q))$ is the constant function with value q, and that $\alpha(j(p))$ is the identity function. Using that α and j are homomorphisms of Heyting algebras, it follows that, for any $\psi \in \mathbf{H}(p,\overline{q})$, $\alpha(j(\psi))$ is the function which sends $\phi \in \mathbf{H}(\overline{q})$ to the formula $\psi(\phi/p,\overline{q})$, in which ϕ is substituted for all occurrences of p. Now, let $\psi, \psi' \in \mathbf{H}(p,\overline{q})$ be arbitrary, and suppose that $j(\psi) = j(\psi')$. Pick a variable r from \overline{q} which does not appear in ψ or ψ' . Then $\psi(r/p,\overline{q}) = \alpha(j(\psi)) = \alpha(j(\psi')) = \psi'(r/p,\overline{q})$, and thus $\psi = \psi'$.

To finish the proof, consider the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathbf{H}(\overline{q}) & \stackrel{i}{\longrightarrow} & \mathbf{H}(p,\overline{q}) \\ & \downarrow^{\sigma} & \downarrow^{j} \\ \operatorname{Sub}_{\mathcal{E}}(1) & \stackrel{!^{-1}}{\longrightarrow} & \operatorname{Sub}_{\mathcal{E}}(\Omega) \end{array}$$

Note that $\tau \circ \exists_!$ is lower adjoint to $!^{-1} \circ \sigma = j \circ i$. Thus, since j is an order embedding, we get that $\tau \circ \exists_! \circ j$ is lower adjoint to i, and we conclude by Proposition 12.

In an attempt to settle Question 16 in the negative, in light of Proposition 17, Pitts had initially tried to prove the negation of Theorem 1. However, Theorem 1 ended up being true, and Question 16 thus remained open. Theorem 1 has since been used in attempts towards settling Question 16 in the positive, in particular by the late D. Pataraia, although there is no published proof; see, e.g., [35, 34, 41, 54] for more information.

The above category-theoretic viewpoint on uniform interpolation can also be related to the model-theoretic results that can be derived from it, as we will describe in the next section.

4 Model-complete theories from uniform interpolants

In the algebraic viewpoint on propositional logics, we typically study a logical entailment relation as a special case of the equational consequence relation $\vdash_{\mathcal{C}}$ for a class of algebras \mathcal{C} in an algebraic language $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{C}}$. For instance, the entailment relation of intuitionistic propositional logic can be viewed in this way as $\vdash_{\mathcal{H}}$, where \mathcal{H} is the class of Heyting algebras, which are structures in the algebraic language $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{H}} = \{\land, \lor, \Rightarrow, \bot, \top\}$.

In this section, rather than looking at $\vdash_{\mathcal{C}}$ directly, we take a different perspective, and study the *first order theory of* a class of algebras \mathcal{C} itself, which is defined as

 $\operatorname{Th}_{\mathsf{FO}}(\mathcal{C}) := \{ \Phi \text{ a first order } \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{C}}\text{-sentence such that } A \models \Phi \text{ for every } A \in \mathcal{C} \}.$

For example, Th_{FO}(\mathcal{H}) contains the sentences $\forall x. \forall y. x \lor y = y \lor x$ and $\exists y. \forall x. x \land y = y$, but it does not contain the sentence $\forall x. \exists y. ((x \lor y = \top) \text{ and } (x \land y = \bot))$, as witnessed, for instance, by the three-element chain.

▶ Notation. Note that we write and for the conjunction of first order logic, in order to avoid overloading the symbol \land , which is already used as an operation symbol of the language $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{H}}$ of Heyting algebras; we adopt similar conventions for the other connectives of first order logic. Moreover, in this section we will use the word term to refer to a propositional formula, since it is exactly the same thing as a term in the language $\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{H}}$, while we reserve the word term for formulas of first order logic; as usual, a term is a first-order formula in which all the variables are bound. In order to clearly separate metavariables for propositional formulas from those for first order formulas, as a convention, we continue to use lower case Greek letters to refer to propositional formulas, while we reserve upper case Greek letters for formulas of first order logic.

The starting point of the work of S. Ghilardi and M. Zawadowski in [25, 26] is that Pitts' Theorem 1 can be used to establish that the first order theory of Heyting algebras has a model completion [25, p. 29]. The concept of model completion that is used here originates in A. Robinson's model-theoretic algebra [57, 58], and closely relates to the idea of quantifier elimination. The prime example is the theory of algebraically closed fields, which is the model completion of the first order theory of integral domains. An example closer to the kind we want to consider here is the first order theory of Boolean algebras, which has a model completion, namely, the theory of atomless Boolean algebras, see, e.g., [55, Thm. 6.21]. We now recall the definitions and some basic facts about these concepts, referring to, e.g. [11, Sec. 3.5] for more details.

For the remainder of this section, we fix an algebraic language \mathcal{L} . A (first order) theory is a set T of first order sentences in the language \mathcal{L} , and a model of T is an \mathcal{L} -structure A such that $A \models \Phi$ for every $\Phi \in T$. When T is a theory and $\Phi(\overline{x})$ is a formula, we also write $T \vdash \Phi$ if, for any structure A and any $\overline{a} \in A^{\overline{x}}$, if $A \models \Psi(\overline{x}/\overline{a})$ for every $\Psi \in T$, then $A \models \Phi(\overline{x}/\overline{a})$.

We call a formula Φ universal if its prenex form only contains universal quantifiers and we similarly define the notion of existential formula. We say that two theories T and T' in the same language are co-theories if, for any universal sentence Φ , we have $T \vdash \Phi$ if, and only if, $T' \vdash \Phi$. In other words, writing T_{\forall} for the set of universal sentences Φ such that $T \vdash \Phi$, T and T' are co-theories means that $T_{\forall} = T'_{\forall}$. A theory T is universally axiomatizable, or simply universal, if, for any $\Phi \in T$, we have $T_{\forall} \vdash \Phi$. We say that a theory T is model complete if, for any formula Φ , there is a universal formula Φ' such that $T \vdash \Phi \leftrightarrow \Phi'$. Notice that it is equivalent to say that, for any formula Ψ , there is an existential formula Ψ' such that $T \vdash \Psi \leftrightarrow \Psi'$, as can be seen by applying the definition of model-completeness to $\neg \Psi$. A stronger property than model-completeness is that the theory T eliminates quantifiers, which means that, for any formula Φ , there is a quantifier-free formula Φ' such that $T \vdash \Phi \leftrightarrow \Phi'$.

- ▶ **Definition 18.** Let T, T_0 be theories in the language \mathcal{L} , and suppose that T_0 is universal.⁷
- The theory T is a model companion of T_0 if T is a model complete co-theory of T_0 .
- The theory T is a model completion of T_0 if T is a co-theory of T_0 and eliminates quantifiers.

There is a complementary semantic perspective on model completions, which we also briefly recall now. Let T_0 be a universal theory and let A be a model of T_0 . The model A is called existentially closed for T_0 provided that, for any quantifier free formula $\Phi(\overline{x}, y)$ and $\overline{a} \in A^{\overline{x}}$, if there exists a model B of T_0 such that B contains A as a submodel and $B \models \exists y.\Phi(\overline{x}/\overline{a},y)$, then $A \models \exists y.\Phi(\overline{x}/\overline{a},y)$. Note, for instance, that the existentially closed integral domains are precisely the algebraically closed fields in the usual sense. In general, if T is a model companion of a universal theory T_0 , then the models of T are precisely the existentially closed models of T_0 . From this, one can deduce that the universal theory T_0 has at most one model companion, up to equivalence, and that this model companion exists if, and only if, there is a first order theory whose models are exactly the existentially closed models of T_0 . Moreover, one may show that this model companion is a model completion if, and only if, the class of models of T_0 has the amalgamation property.

We now sketch how a model completion for the theory of Heyting algebras may be obtained from Pitts' quantifiers [25].

▶ **Theorem 19.** The first order theory of Heyting algebras, $Th_{FO}(\mathcal{H})$, has a model completion.

Proof (Sketch). It is well-known that the class of Heyting algebras has the amalgamation property, see for instance [47, Prop. 1] or [16] for early algebraic proofs of this fact. In light of the above remarks, it therefore suffices to show that there is a first order theory whose models are exactly the existentially closed Heyting algebras.

Let \overline{x}, y be a finite set of variables and let $\phi_1(\overline{x}, y), \dots, \phi_n(\overline{x}, y)$ and $\psi_1(\overline{x}, y), \dots, \psi_m(\overline{x}, y)$ be any terms in these variables, and consider the quantifier-free formula $\Psi(\overline{x})$ given by

$$\exists y. (\phi_1 = \top \text{ and } \cdots \text{ and } \phi_n = \top \text{ and } \psi_1 \neq \top \text{ and } \cdots \text{ and } \psi_m \neq \top)$$
.

We will show how to express in a first order way that a Heyting algebra satisfies the existential closedness property with respect to this formula Ψ ; the case of a general existential formula is then essentially an iteration of this argument. Consider the formula $\Psi'(\bar{x})$ given by

$$\mathsf{E}_y\left(\bigwedge_{i=1}^n\phi_i\right) = \top \text{ and } \mathsf{A}_y\left(\left[\bigwedge_{i=1}^n\phi_i\right] \Rightarrow \psi_1\right) \neq \top \text{ and } \cdots \text{ and } \mathsf{A}_y\left(\left[\bigwedge_{i=1}^n\phi_i\right] \Rightarrow \psi_m\right) \neq \top \ ,$$

where we use the uniform interpolants for propositional formulas, which exist according to Theorem 1. Using the definition of uniform interpolants, one may then prove that, for any

⁷ There is a more general definition where T_0 is not required to be universal, but it is slightly more complicated to state, and not relevant for the examples of interest to us here.

Heyting algebra A and $\overline{a} \in A^{\overline{x}}$, we have $A \models \Psi'(\overline{x}/\overline{a})$ if, and only if, $A[y]/\alpha \models \Psi(\overline{x}/\overline{a})$, where A[y] denotes the coproduct of A with the free Heyting algebra over y, and α is the congruence generated by the pairs $(\phi_i(\overline{x}/\overline{a},y),\top)$, for $i=1,\ldots,n$. Therefore, a Heyting algebra A satisfies the existential closedness property for the formula $\Psi(\overline{x},y)$ and a tuple $\overline{a} \in A^{\overline{x}}$ if, and only if, $A \models (\Psi' \to \Psi)(\overline{x}/\overline{a})$. Thus, an existentially closed Heyting algebra must satisfy the first order sentence $\forall \overline{x}.(\Psi' \to \Psi)$. This is the essential property required for axiomatizing existentially closed Heyting algebras. Using this property, a general argument (see, e.g., [11, Thm. 3.5.20]) shows that the model completion of $\operatorname{Th}_{\mathsf{FO}}(\mathcal{H})$ is obtained by adding to the theory $\operatorname{Th}_{\mathsf{FO}}(\mathcal{H})$, for any choice of $\overline{x}, y, \phi_1, \ldots, \phi_n, \psi_1, \ldots, \psi_m$ as above, the formula $\forall \overline{x}.(\Psi' \to \Psi)$.

The above proof method shows that the class of existentially closed Heyting algebras admits a first order axiomatization T, and also gives an effective quantifier elimination procedure for T. [25, Prop. A.2] establishes some concrete properties of existentially closed Heyting algebras, such as the fact that the order must be dense, and that there are no meet-irreducible elements. It is an open problem to obtain a 'manageable' complete axiomatization of the class of existentially closed Heyting algebras. [25, Thm. A.3] further shows that all of the eight varieties of Heyting algebras with the amalgamation property also have model completions. L. Darnière and M. Junker [12] obtain concrete axiomatizations for the model completions of all of these varieties, except for the variety of all Heyting algebras. Several more results on the (non-)existence of model completions for classes of modal algebras are obtained in [26]. More generally, an algebraic method for establishing (non-)existence of model companions for many modal logics, substructural logics, and varieties of lattices, is developed in [38, 39].

We remark that Theorem 19 can be viewed as a consequence of a more general phenomenon that goes back to work of W. Wheeler [66, 67], as explained in [25, 26], and also further investigated in [28, 49]. The general idea is that, for T a universal theory in an algebraic language \mathcal{L} , the existence of a model companion for T can be characterized via properties of the category \mathcal{F}_T of finitely presentable T-structures, with homomorphisms between them. For instance, it is proved in [25, Thm. 3.4] that, for an equational theory T, if the opposite $(\mathcal{F}_T)^{\text{op}}$ is an r-Heyting category, then T has a model completion. Moreover, in the presence of a few additional assumptions on T, the converse also holds. From this perspective, a generalized form of Theorem 1 can first be used to establish that the opposite of the category of finitely presented Heyting algebras is an r-Heyting category, from which Theorem 19 then follows by the general theory; this is the approach taken in [26]. Using the converse direction, one may also use this general approach to deduce that certain theories do not have a model completion, as is for instance done for many extensions of modal logic $\mathbf{K4}$ in [26, Ch. 6].

5 Syntactic methods, further results and connections

Our focus in this chapter so far has been on connections between uniform interpolation and semantics. The syntactic method of establishing uniform interpolation is discussed in more

detail in Section 3 of Chapter 5 in this volume; we will here just make some brief remarks about the method and its relation to the semantic method.

The basic idea of the syntactic proof style is to recursively construct candidate formulas $\mathsf{E}_p(\phi)$ and $\mathsf{A}_p(\phi)$ for a formula ϕ , usually based on a large case distinction on the shape of ϕ , and the rules that may be applied to it in a particular sequent calculus for the logic. The most intricate part of such proofs of uniform interpolation is the proof of correctness of these candidate formulas $\mathsf{E}_p(\phi)$ and $\mathsf{A}_p(\phi)$, which is typically done by induction on the structure of a 'potential derivation' using ϕ in the sequent calculus. One may understand the case of classical propositional logic, discussed as the start of this chapter, as a very simple case of this, where local tabularity can be used to guarantee that any entailment only has finitely many possible 'distinct' derivations. In the case where a logic is not locally tabular, such as \mathbf{IPC} , it is not a priori obvious how to obtain a sequent calculus that terminates in the strong sense required for constructing uniform interpolants.

The syntactic method was in particular the one that was originally used by Pitts to establish Theorem 1 in [52], and was subsequently used for proving the implication-based uniform interpolation property for a great number of other logics; for instance, this was done by Bílková [9] for the basic modal logic **K** and for the modal logic of reflexive frames, **T**, and for provability logics **GL** and **Grz** in [6], also see [7]. The method was further extended by Iemhoff [31, 32], who identifies precise general criteria for sequent calculi that allow one to establish uniform interpolation; these ideas were subsequently applied to obtain syntactic proofs of uniform interpolation for a number of intuitionistic modal logics, see, e.g., [27, 3, 61], and the further references given in Chapter 5 of this volume. In the context of substructural logic, Alizadeh, Derakhshan, and Ono [4] establish uniform interpolation for full Lambek calculus and for linear and affine logics without exponentials. Interestingly, in that context, even the *predicate* versions of the logics have uniform interpolation, in contrast with the case of classical logic, see e.g. Theorem 2.18 in Chapter 2.

As mentioned at the end of Section 2, an advantage of this syntactic method over the semantic one is that, at least in theory, it provides better bounds on the complexity of the uniform interpolants. The intuitive reason for this is that, to find a uniform interpolant for a formula ϕ , the semantic method performs a search among 'all possible bisimilarity types of Kripke models, considered up to the depth of ϕ ', while the syntactic method searches 'all possible proofs of ϕ '. The latter is in general a (much) smaller number. In practice, however, it is usually not feasible to compute uniform interpolants by hand in a logic such as IPC, even with the syntactic method, as the calculations quickly become complex even on small examples.

Uniform interpolation is also studied in the context of knowledge representation via description logics, where it is in particular relevant for ontology extensions [21], and where the complexity and size of uniform interpolants have been studied in detail; see Chapter 15 of this volume.

The algorithms for computing uniform interpolants are often intricate, and it is a non-

trivial task to implement them correctly. To mitigate this, in [18], a version of Pitts' algorithm for computing uniform interpolants for **IPC** was implemented and moreover verified to be correct in the Rocq proof assistant. These methods were subsequently extended to provide a verified computation of uniform interpolants for the modal logics **K** (where the uniform interpolants are not deductive but implication-based), for **GL**, and for the intuitionistic modal logic **iSL** [17]. This work in particular provides a uniform interpolant calculator which is available as an online application at https://hferee.github.io/UIML/, and has recently been used in theoretical research for computing specific uniform interpolants [37].

| logic | implication UI | deductive UI | FO-theory has model |
|--|--------------------|------------------------------|-----------------------|
| | | | companion |
| CPC | ✓ | = | \checkmark^A |
| IPC | ✓ [52] | = | \checkmark^A |
| K | ✓ [19, Sec. 6] | ✗ [22], cf. Remark 11 | Х |
| | | above | |
| S4 | X [24] | = | ✗ [45, Thm. 2] |
| $\overline{\mathrm{GL}}$ | ✓ [60, Cor. 2.13] | = | \checkmark^A |
| Grz | ✓ [64, Sec. 8] | = | \checkmark^A |
| Ł | XX [40, 50] | ✓ [50, Rem. 4] | X [42] |
| LTL | XX [46] | = | ✓ (a variant) [20] |
| \mathbf{K}_{μ} | = | ✓ [2] | |
| iK, iKD | ✓ [32] | | |
| iSL | ✓ [65, 17] | | |
| iK4, iS4 | ✗ [27] | | |
| $\mathbf{iGL}, \mathbf{IK}, \mathbf{CK}$ | | | |

Table 1 Summary of the literature on uniform interpolation and model companions. The results on Boolean algebras are folklore. A double X means that even the *non-uniform* form of interpolation fails in the logic. An equality sign in the 'deductive UI' column means that a deduction property holds in the logic, so that the result is the same as for implication-based UI; see the third remark following Definition 2. In the last column, the symbol ^A indicates that the class of algebras also has amalgamation, so that the model companion is in fact a model completion. Unless mentioned otherwise, the results in the last column are due to [25].

In Table 1, we summarize the current state of the art of the literature on uniform interpolation for a number of common logics, and the existence of model companions for their corresponding classes of algebras. Note that this table also implies a number of open questions: for all the empty cells, at the time of writing, the author is unaware of any answers, yet hopeful that readers of this chapter will be inspired to produce some. For more information, we also refer to the table maintained by T. Kurahashi at https://www2.kobe-u.ac.jp/~tk/jp/notes/ULIP.html, which surveys Craig interpolation, implication-style uniform interpolation,

and their Lyndon variants, for a large number of intermediate, modal, and intuitionistic modal logics.

Acknowledgments

The author is grateful for several discussions on parts of this chapter with Balder ten Cate, Silvio Ghilardi, Iris van der Giessen, Jérémie Marquès and George Metcalfe, and Frank Wolter. Van der Giessen and Metcalfe also each provided detailed reviews of an earlier version of this chapter, which have been a great help in improving it. This work has received financial support from the Agence Nationale de la Recherche (ANR), project ANR-23-CE48-0012-01.

References

- 1 Marco Abbadini. The dual of compact ordered spaces is a variety. *Theory and Applications of Categories*, 34:1401–1439, 2019.
- 2 Giovanna D'Agostino and Marco Hollenberg. Logical questions concerning the μ-calculus: interpolation, Lyndon and Łoś-Tarski. J. Symbolic Logic, 65(1):310–332, 2000. doi:10.2307/2586539.
- 3 A. Akbar Tabatabai, R. Iemhoff, and R. Jalali. Uniform lyndon interpolation for intuitionistic monotone modal logic. In Advances in Modal Logic, volume 14, pages 77–96, 2022.
- 4 Majid Alizadeh, Farzaneh Derakhshan, and Hiroakira Ono. Uniform interpolation in substructural logics. *The Review of Symbolic Logic*, 7(3):455–483, 2014. doi:10.1017/S175502031400015X.
- 5 Fabio Bellissima. Finitely generated free Heyting algebras. *Journal of Symbolic Logic*, 51(1):152–165, 1986. doi:10.2307/2273952.
- 6 Marta Bílková. Interpolation in modal logics. PhD thesis, Univerzita Karlova, Prague, 2006.
- 7 Marta Bilkova. Uniform Interpolation in provability logics, 2022. arXiv:2211.02591.
- 8 P. Blackburn, M. de Rijke, and Y. Venema. *Modal Logic*, volume 53 of *Cambridge Tracts in Theoretical Computer Science*. Cambridge University Press, 2001.
- 9 Marta Bílková. Uniform Interpolation and Propositional Quantifiers in Modal Logics. Studia Logica, 85:1–31, 2007.
- A. Chagrov and M. Zakharyaschev. Modal Logic, volume 35 of Oxford Logic Guides. Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1997. doi:10.2307/2693587.
- 11 C. C. Chang and H. J. Keisler. *Model theory, 3rd edition*. North Holland, 1990.
- 12 L. Darnière and M. Junker. Model completion of varieties of co-Heyting algebras. Houston J. Math., 44(1):49–82, 2018.
- Jim de Groot and Dirk Pattinson. Hennessy-Milner properties via topological compactness. Information and Computation, 287:104757, 2022. Special Issue: Selected Papers from WoLLIC 2019, the 26th Workshop on Logic, Language, Information and Computation. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0890540121000729, doi:10.1016/j.ic.2021.104757.
- 14 Leo Esakia. Topological Kripke models. Soviet Math. Dokl., 15:147–151, 1974.

References 25

15 Leo Esakia. Heyting algebras: Duality theory, volume 50 of Trends in Logic. Springer, 1985. 2019 translation of the original. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-12096-2.

- 16 I. Fleischer. Relatively pseudocomplemented semilattices amalgamate strongly. Algebra Universalis, 11:130–132, 1980. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02483089.
- Hugo Férée, Iris van der Giessen, Sam van Gool, and Ian Shillito. Mechanised uniform interpolation for K, GL, and iSL. In Christoph Benzmüller, Marijn J.H. Heule, and Renate A. Schmidt, editors, Automated Reasoning: 12th International Joint Conference, IJCAR 2024, Nancy, France, July 3-6, 2024, Proceedings, Part I. 2024.
- 18 Hugo Férée and Sam van Gool. Formalizing and computing propositional quantifiers. Certified proofs and programs (CPP), 2023.
- 19 Silvio Ghilardi. An algebraic theory of normal forms. *Annals of Pure and Applied Logic*, 71:189–245, 1995.
- Silvio Ghilardi and S. J. v. Gool. Monadic second order logic as the model companion of temporal logic. In Martin Grohe, Eric Koskinen, and Natarajan Shankar, editors, Proceedings of the 31st Annual ACM/IEEE Symposium on Logic in Computer Science, LICS '16, New York, NY, USA, July 5-8, 2016, pages 417–426. ACM, 2016. doi:10.1145/2933575.2933609.
- Silvio Ghilardi, Carsten Lutz, and Frank Wolter. Did I damage my ontology? A case for conservative extensions in description logics. In Patrick Doherty, John Mylopoulos, and Christopher A. Welty, editors, Proceedings, Tenth International Conference on Principles of Knowledge Representation and Reasoning, Lake District of the United Kingdom, June 2-5, 2006, pages 187–197. AAAI Press, 2006. URL: http://www.aaai.org/Library/KR/2006/kr06-021.php.
- 22 Silvio Ghilardi, Carsten Lutz, and Frank Wolter. Did I damage my ontology? A case for conservative extensions in description logics (long version). Technical report, 2006. URL: https://www.csc.liv.ac.uk/~frank/publ/SCW.pdf.
- 23 Silvio Ghilardi and Marek Zawadowski. A sheaf representation and duality for finitely presented Heyting algebras. *Journal of Symbolic Logic*, 60(3):911–939, 1995. doi:10.2307/2275765.
- 24 Silvio Ghilardi and Marek Zawadowski. Undefinability of Propositional Quantifiers in the Modal System S4. *Studia Logica*, 55:259–271, 1995.
- 25 Silvio Ghilardi and Marek Zawadowski. Model completions and r-Heyting categories. *Annals of Pure and Applied Logic*, 88(1):27–46, 1997.
- 26 Silvio Ghilardi and Marek Zawadowski. Sheaves, Games, and Model Completions. Springer, 2002. doi:10.1007/978-94-015-9936-8.
- 27 Iris van der Giessen. Uniform Interpolation and Admissible Rules. PhD thesis, Utrecht University, 2022. Quaestiones Infinitae 138.
- Sam van Gool, George Metcalfe, and Constantine Tsinakis. Uniform Interpolation and Compact Congruences. Annals of Pure and Applied Logic, 168:1927-1948, 2017. doi:10.1016/j.apal. 2017.05.001.
- 29 Sam van Gool and Luca Reggio. An open mapping theorem for finitely copresented Esakia spaces. Topology and its Applications, 240:69-77, 2018. doi:10.1016/j.topol.2018.03.006.
- 30 Dirk Hofmann and Pedro Nora. Esakia spaces via idempotent split completion. Textos de Matemática (Serie B), 46:201–220, 2014.
- 31 R. Iemhoff. Uniform interpolation and sequent calculi in modal logic. *Arch. Math. Logic*, 58(1-2):155–181, 2019.

- Rosalie Iemhoff. Uniform interpolation and the existence of sequent calculi. *Ann. Pure Appl. Log.*, 170(11), 2019. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apal.2019.05.008, doi:10.1016/J. APAL.2019.05.008.
- D. Janin and I. Walukiewicz. On the expressive completeness of the propositional mu-calculus with respect to monadic second order logic. In *CONCUR '96: Concurrency Theory*, volume 1119 of *Lecture Notes in Computer Science*, pages 263–277. Springer, 1996.
- 34 Mamuka Jibladze. Comment on: Constructing a topos from a Heyting algebra, 2017. URL: https://mathoverflow.net/questions/258831/constructing-a-topos-from-a-heyting-algebra#comment638566_258831.
- 35 Peter Johnstone. Hochas and minimal toposes. In *International Workshop on Topological Methods in Logic III*, 2012. URL: https://rmi.tsu.ge/tolo3/Presentations/Johnstone_1.pdf.
- 36 Peter T. Johnstone. Topos theory. Academic Press, 1977.
- 37 Zoltan A. Kocsis. Proof-theoretic methods in quantifier-free definability. Annals of Pure and Applied Logic, 176(4), 2025. 103555.
- 38 Tomasz Kowalski and George Metcalfe. Coherence in modal logic. In Advances in Modal Logic, volume 12, pages 459–472. College Publications, 2018.
- 39 Tomasz Kowalski and George Metcalfe. Uniform interpolation and coherence. Annals of Pure and Applied Logic, 170(7):825-841, 2019. arXiv:https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0168007219300156, doi:10.1016/j.apal.2019.02.004.
- 40 P. S. Krzystek and S. Zachorowski. Lukasiewicz logics have not the interpolation property. Reports on Mathematical Logic, 9:39–40, 1977.
- 41 Evgeny Kuznetsov. On Boolean Topos Constructions by Freyd and Pataraia and their generalizations. In *TACL 2024 Book of Abstracts*, pages 183–184, 2024.
- 42 F. Lacava. Alcune proprietà delle L-algebre e delle L-algebre esistenzialmente chiuse. Boll. Un. Mat. Ital. A (5), 16(2):360–366, 1979.
- 43 Joachim Lambek. Deductive systems and categories. I. Syntactic calculus and residuated categories. *Mathematical Systems Theory*, 2:287–318, 1968.
- 44 F. William Lawvere. Adjointness in Foundations. *Dialectica*, 23(3/4):281-296, 1969. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/42969800, doi:10.1111/j.1746-8361.1969.tb01194.x.
- 45 Paolo Lipparini. Existentially complete closure algebras. Boll. Un. Mat. Ital. Algebra e Geometria, VI(I-D)(1):13-19, 1982.
- 46 L. Maksimova. Temporal logics with "the next" operator do not have interpolation or the beth property. Siberian Mathematical Journal, 32(6):989–993, 1991.
- 47 L.L. Maksimova. Craig's theorem in superintuitionistic logics and amalgamable varieties of pseudo-boolean algebras. Algebra and Logic, 16(6):427–455, 1977.
- Jérémie Marquès. Categorical logic from the perspective of duality and compact ordered spaces. PhD thesis, Université Côte d'Azur, Nice, 2023. URL: https://jeremie-marques.name/thesis.pdf.
- 49 George Metcalfe and Luca Reggio. Model Completions for Universal Classes of Algebras: Necessary and Sufficient Conditions. The Journal of Symbolic Logic, 88(1):381–417, 2023. doi:10.1017/jsl.2022.1.
- 50 Daniele Mundici. Consequence and Interpolation in Łukasiewicz logic. Studia Logica, 99(1):269–278, 2011.

References 27

Anna Patterson. Bisimulation and propositional intuitionistic logic. In Antoni W. Mazurkiewicz and Józef Winkowski, editors, CONCUR '97: Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on Concurrency Theory, 1997.

- 52 Andrew M. Pitts. On an interpretation of second-order quantification in first-order intuitionistic propositional logic. *J. Symbolic Logic*, 57(1):33–52, 1992.
- 53 Andrew M. Pitts. Tripos theory in retrospect. *Mathematical Structures in Computer Science*, 12:265–279, 2002.
- Andrew M. Pitts. Heyting Algebras and Higher-Order Logic. Slides of a lecture at "Heyting Day 2025", 2025. URL: https://www.knaw.nl/en/events/heyting-day-2025-models-intuitionism-and-computability.
- 55 Bruno Poizat. A Course in Model Theory. Springer-Verlag New York, 2000.
- 56 H. A. Priestley. Representation of distributive lattices by means of ordered Stone spaces. Bull. London Math. Soc., 2:186–190, 1970. doi:10.1112/blms/2.2.186.
- 57 A. Robinson. On the Metamathematics of Algebra. North-Holland, 1951.
- 58 Abraham Robinson. Introduction to model theory and to the metamathematics of algebra. Studies in logic and the foundations of mathematics. North-Holland, 1963.
- 59 P. H. Schmidt. Algebraically complete lattices. Algebra Universalis, 17:135–142, 1983.
- V. Yu Shavrukov. Subalgebras of Diagonalizable Algebras of Theories Containing Arithmetic. Dissertationes Mathematicae, 323, 1993. URL: http://matwbn.icm.edu.pl/ksiazki/rm/rm323/rm32301.pdf.
- 61 Ian Shillito, Iris van der Giessen, Rajeev Goré, and Rosalie Iemhoff. A new calculus for intuitionistic strong löb logic: Strong termination and cut-elimination, formalised. In Revantha Ramanayake and Josef Urban, editors, Automated Reasoning with Analytic Tableaux and Related Methods, pages 73–93, Cham, 2023. Springer Nature Switzerland.
- M. H. Stone. Topological representations of distributive lattices and Brouwerian logics. Čas. Mat. Fys., 67:1–25, 1938. doi:10.21136/cpmf.1938.124080.
- Thomas Streicher. Introduction to category theory and categorical logic. Lecture Notes, 2004. URL: https://www2.mathematik.tu-darmstadt.de/~streicher/CTCL.pdf.
- A. Visser. Uniform interpolation and layered bisimulation. In P. Hájek, editor, *Gödel '96 proceedings*, volume 6 of *Lecture Notes in Logic*, pages 139–164. Springer-Verlag, 1996. URL: http://projecteuclid.org/download/pdf_1/euclid.lnl/1235417019.
- 65 Albert Visser and Tadeusz Litak. Lewis and Brouwer meet Strong Löb, 2024. Preprint arXiv:2404.11969. doi:https://arxiv.org/abs/2404.11969.
- William H. Wheeler. Model-companions and definability in existentially complete structures. Israel Journal of Mathematics, 25:305–330, 1976.
- 67 William H. Wheeler. A characterization of companionable, universal theories. J. Symbolic Logic, 25(3):402–429, 1978.